A. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER 

!:..Petitioner Elika Kohen, the Appellant below, asks this court to accept 

review of the following Appellate Court decisions designated in Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS 

2. (A.) Exhibit A-02 - Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, 

Appendix G.3, pg. 32 . .ill:) Exhibit A-03 -Order Denying Motion to Take 

New Evidence, Appendix G.4, pg. 34; .(Q Exhibit A-04 - Opinion 

Affirming Trial Court's Decision, Appendix G.5, pg. 37. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

C.l. ISSUE 01- COMPLIANCE WITH THE HAGUE CONVENTION 

~Does the Choice of Court Agreement for Legal Separation m 

Washington State supersede a Petition for the Return of Children? 

~Did the Appellate Court have authority to modify international treaty by 

providing a Return Remedy over alleged Breaches of Rights of Access? 

~Does "Shared, Well-Settled Parental Intent" act as a surrogate in 

conclusions of Habitual Residence in cases of infant/very-young Children? 

C.l.Issue 01 -Compliance with the 
Hague Convention 
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6. Summary Judgment 1: Is it appropriate to remand to trial when material 

facts are in dispute-and when it is not proven there are no genuine 

disputes of material fact? CJC 2.6(A), CR 56(c); CPC 4.4: 

7. The Laws of Quebec. Canada: Does the Hague Convention require 

examination of settled intent and rights attributed to both parents? 

Convention (28). Article 3,Article 600. C.C.Q.; 

8. Failure to State a Claim: What is the claim and required burdens of 

proof for which a return can be ordered? Convention (28). Article 3. 

9. Habitual Residence and Sabbaticals: Should analysis occur whether 

Habitual Residence had been retained in, or returned to, the United States? 

10. Habitual Residence and Acclimatization: Is it appropriate to apply the 

Last Shared and Settled Intent of the parents as and for the conclusion of 

Habitual Residence of infant/very young children? 

C.3. ISSUE 03 -APPELLATE COURT ERRORS 

11. Did the Appellate Court err, making two findings of its own without 

"Structural Error," is used, herein, analogously to the term used in criminal contexts 
where individual rights are contravened-to assert the necessity of reversal and trial: 
"The right to trial [by jury] reflects, we have said, a profound judgment about the way 
in which law should be enforced and justice administered. The deprivation of that 
right, with consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate, 
unquestionably qualifies as structural error." Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 282 
(1993), internal quotes omitted. 

C.3.Issue 03 -Appellate Court 
Errors 
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remanding these issues for Trial, nor based on any substantial evidence, 

nor allowing the parties to respond, (RAP 12.1), that: (A.) "Mr. Kohen 

informed Ms. Smith that he would not return the children to Canada"; and 

.(!Ll "Mr. Kohen cut off Ms. Smith's contact with the Children." See 

Opinion pg. 11. para. 1; U.S. Const. amend. XIV. § 1. 

C.4. ISSUE 04- RECOGNIZABILITY OF FOREIGN JUDGMENTS 

12. Are the Trial and Appellate Court's decisions manifestly incompatible 

with the policies of Quebec-specifically: statutory examination of joint 

exercise of parental authority, and proof of such intents? Articles 75-78, 

Article 600. C.C.Q., Convention (16). Article 5, Article 3155. C.C.Q .. 

13. Did Mr. Kohen have had an adequate time to respond, present 

evidences, and witnesses? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

D.l. ISSUE 01 -FACTS RE. THE HAGUE CONVENTION 

14. Sep 2. 2013: The Parties lawfully entered into a Choice of Court 

Agreement, (under Article 3Cc). Convention (37)), for Legal Separation 

and proceedings to occur in Washington State, proven by written messages 

between the parties, (CP 389, CP 429, Exhibits: Ms. Smith :S consent), and 

Ms. Smith's declaration to the Montreal Superior Court, (Exhibit A-123, 

D.l.Issue 01 -Facts Re. the Hague 
Convention 

Appellant's Amended Petition for 
Review 

Page 6 of 50 



Motion to take new Evidence before the Appellate Court, 

Denied,Appendix G.4); 

15. Ms. Smith, herself, declared that she consented, and acquiesced for the 

Children to return to the United States-explicitly for the purpose of the 

family's immigration, (CP 49, CP 149, CP 117, Smith's Declarations); 

16. Ms. Smith proved that there was no settled intent for the family to 

remain in Quebec; (A.) Ms. Smith never attempted to sponsor Mr. Kohen's 

or the Children's immigration to Quebec, Canada, (CP 148-149); illJ Mr. 

Kohen was never eligible for work in Canada, (ibid); £!cl The Children's 

brother was not enrolled in local school, but rather home-schooled, (ibid); 

17. Feb. 8. 2012-Jul. 2. 2013: Ms. Smith, (9 months pregnant with Lydia-

Maayan), and the Children Anya-Marie, and Hezekiah, left their home in 

Washington State to visit Ms. Smith's parents farm in Bristol, Quebec, 

with Mr. Kohen :S consent, (CP 134-139, Exhibit: Tickets). 

18. Feb. 8. 2012- Jul. 2. 2013: Mr. Kohen proved that the parties planned, 

for well over a year, to return the family to the United States, (CP 378, CP 

379, CP 383, CP 478-480, Exhibits: Ms. Smith's Emails). 

19. Aug. 2. 2012: Mr. Kohen flew to Canada, to return his oldest daughter, 

Anya-Marie, to the United States, "in-lap", (CP 137, Exhibit: Tickets); (A.) 

D.l.Issue 01- Facts Re. the Hague 
Convention 
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Ms. Smith had reported that her mother and aunt abducted Anya-Marie-

while in Quebec, (CP 25, Kohen's Declaration): 

20. Shared and Settled Decision: Mr. Kohen proved that Ms. Smith 

unequivocally communicated and demonstrated settled intent: (A.) Jul. 2. 

20 13: Ms. Smith began the immigration background check process-even 

before the Children left Canada; (CP 125-128, Exhibit: FBI Background 

Check for immigration on Jul 2, 20 13); illJ. Jul. 15. 2013: Ms. Smith 

applied for immigration to the United States, (CP 118-123, USCIS 

Exhibits); .(!:;.:1 Jul. 16. 2013: Ms. Smith provided the notice to abandon the 

family's residence in Quebec, (CP 143, Exhibit: Metcap's confirmation 

of .Smith's notice to vacate); ill.:}. Aug. 12. 2013: Ms. Smith executed a 

Power of Attorney, 1.5 months after the Children return to the United 

States proving that she unequivocally expressed intent for the Children to 

reside and be domiciled in Washington State, pending her own 

immigration, (CP 333, Exhibit: Smith's Power of Attorney); .(EJ Aug. 18. 

~ Ms. Smith confirmed her plans to help support Mr. Kohen and the 

Children in Nov, 2013, beyond the return date of the flight on Oct 2 2013, 

(CP 60, Exhibit: Smith's Email on Aug 25; CP 423, Exhibit: Smith's 

messages confirming support; .(El Aug. 25. 2013: Ms. Smith continued to 

D.l.Issue 01 -Facts Re. the Hague 
Convention 
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confirm that her decision was still well-settled, despite the breakdown of 

the marriage. See Section D.3, pg. 10; 

21. Sep. 12. 2013: (A.) Ms. Smith alleged that she was unable to contact 

the Children, (CP 149, Smith's Declaration); ill.:l Mr. Kohen did not 

answer this call at the direction of the Montreal Police, (~, Kohen's 

Declaration); ~ Mr. Kohen proved that afterwards he continued to 

facilitate Ms. Smith's contact with the Children. See Section C.3. pg. 5. 

22. Oct 2, 20 13: Ms. Smith ensured the flight would be missed, sending a 

last minute email, (CP 432, Exhibit: Smith's Email 3 hours beforehand). 

23. Oct. 2nd, 2013: Ms. Smith executed an anticipatory Hague claim-

before the Children missed their flight, alleging Wrongful Retention, (CP 

49, para. 49, Smiths Declaration, Oct. 2m~. 

24. Summary Judgment: There is no evidence in the record to substantiate 

the Appellate Court's new findings, (materially disputed facts), that Mr. 

Kohen refused to return the Children, nor that he cut off Ms. Smith's 

contact with the Children. See Opinion, pg. 10, para. 1. 

25. Laws of Quebec Canada: The Records is absent any analysis regarding 

Rights of Custody attributed to both parents under Quebec law, 

D.2.Issue 02- Facts Re. Structural 
Errors 
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specifically, (A.) if these rights changed following their agreement, 

declarations, and actions to return the family to the U.S.; !!!J. if Ms. Smith 

had a unilateral right to either expect or demand the return; or f!d If Mr. 

Kohen had a right under Quebec Law to refuse to return the Children; 

26. Failure to State a Claim: The record is void of any claim that the 

Return or the Retention of the Children breached Ms. Smith's rights of 

Custody under Quebec Law-as required by Article 3. Convention (28); 

27. Habitual Residence and Sabbaticals: Neither Ms. Smith, nor the courts, 

addressed that the Habitual Residence in the United States was 

retained/maintained because of the temporary nature of the stay; 

28. Habitual Residence and Acclimatization: No legal basis exists, under 

the Convention, that determinations of Acclimatization are possible in 

infant/very young children, nor that Duration of Domicile should be used. 

29. The Appellate Court injected an unsubstantiated allegation that Mr. 

Kohen cut of contact between Ms. Smith and the Children; (A.) Even Ms. 

Smith declared that she had remained in contact with the Children, ( CP 

150, Smiths Declaration); !!!J. Evidence in the record shows that Mr. 

Kohen proved this allegation false, (CP 418, CP 419, CP 420, Exhibits); 

D.3.Issue 03 -Facts Re. Appellate 
Court Errors 
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30. Sep. 15. 2013: Ms. Smith alleged, (CP 149), that Mr. Kohen stated he 

refused to return with the Children, (Opinion. pg. 3. para. 2); (A.) Ms. 

Smith's allegation is unsubstantiated; (B.) Oct. 3, 2013-Nov. 8, 2013: 

(B.l.) Ms. Smith refused to exercise Rights regarding the Residence of the 

Children, refusing to even discuss rescheduling the flight, (CP 433-441, 

Exhibits: Kohen's inquiries regarding returning); (B.2.) In discussions 

about returning to Quebec, Ms. Smith breached her agreement to allow 

Mr. Kohen to use their abandoned residence, not following through, (CP 

~' Exhibits); (C.) Nov. 8, 2013: Ms. Smith waited three days before 

the Nov. 13 hearing to tell Mr. Kohen she was staying in Quebec, not 

immigrating to the U.S., (CP 94, Exhibit: Smith's Email); 

31. The Breakdown of the Marriage: The Appellate Court erred, (Opinion. 

pg. 3. par. 1 ), that Ms. Smith executed the Power of Attorney-before-

the breakdown of the marriage; (A.) Mr. Kohen proved the marriage broke 

down irretrievably before this, when Ms. Smith detailed her other 

relationships and refused to end them, (CP 460, Exhibits, Ms. Smith :S 

emails, CP 468 on Aug 4, CP 469, on Aug. 9, etc); {!cl Nevertheless, Ms. 

Smith continued to affirm her settled agreement, (CP 391, Exhibit: Ms. 

Smith's email returning to US. on Aug 25, 2013; CP 387; CP 56-62, 

D.3.lssue 03- Facts Re. Appellate 
Court Errors 
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Exhibit: Ms. Smith's emails on Aug. 25; Exhibit: Ms. Smiths Email on Aug 

25; CP 388, Exhibit: Ms. Smith's email on Sep 2, moving to Vancouver 

obviating return tickets to Quebec, etc.); 

32. Jan. 12. 2015: (A.) Mr. Kohen could not have reasonably framed a 

response-since even the Appellate Court had to formulate another 

construction: ill.J. In summary, the Appellate Court's restatement is: Mr. 

Kohen breached the agreement to return the Children to the United States, 

because he supposedly refused to return with the Children to Quebec, 

AND supposedly refused to allow Ms. Smith to maintain contact with the 

Children, (Opinion. pg. 11. para. 1 ). 

33. Feb. 17. 2015: The Appellate Court rejected Mr. Kohen's Motion 

under RAP 12.1, (Motion for Reconsideration), to allow him to respond to 

newly injected issues, nor remanded this issue for trial. 

34. Jan 12. 2015: The Appellate Court did not reverse the decision after 

finding that the Trial Court's findings of fact are actually conclusions of 

law, (Opinion. pg. 8. para. 3), clearly insufficient under CR 56. 

35. The Appellate Court erred stating that it was uncontested why the 

Children were present in Quebec in the first place, (Opinion. pg. 1. para. 

2.): (A.) Mr. Kohen contends that it was a temporary stay, considered a 

D.3.Issue 03 -Facts Re. Appellate 
Court Errors 
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sabbatical under the Hague Convention, (CP 30); ill.:.! Ms. Smith declared 

they agreed to move the family to Quebec, contingent upon her agreement 

to sponsor the family's immigration to Quebec, (CP 148, Ms. Smith's 

Declaration); .(!;;.J. Ms. Smith breached what would have been a part of 

such an agreement, (CP 149); ill.:l Ms. Smith contends that this move was 

the result of financial struggles, and because she did not have status to 

work in the U.S., (CP 148); !E:.l However, Ms. Smith affirmed that Mr. 

Kohen in fact moved from Washington State to take a project in New 

Jersey, (ibid), and declared that she only began working 8 months later, as 

she was 9 months pregnant when she arrived in Quebec, (ibid). 

~ ISSUE 04 - FACTS RE. RECOGNIZABILITY OF FOREIGN 

JUDGMENTS 

36. Inadequate Time: Mr. Kohen argued to the Appellate and Trail Courts 

that he could not have reasonably have presented this evidence to the Trial 

Court because, (CP 298-299): .(AJ Ms. Smith's Attorney, Ms. Stacy D. 

Heard, unnecessarily caused 5 different hearings to be heard on the same 

day, two at the same time, but before different justices, (2 more scheduled 

in addition to Mr. Kohen's two, plus the hearing for the Return of the 

Children which was not expected to occur until Dec. 6, 2013, ( CP 190-

~ ~' CP 442, CP 445, and other proceedings regarding the Petition 
D.4.Issue 04- Facts Re. 
Recognizability of Foreign 
Judgments 
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for Legal Separation, CP 298-299. 

37. Oct. 16. 24. 2013: After having indicated that she was being compelled 

to make false accusations, (CP 400, Exhibit: Smith's Email), Ms. Smith 

began harassing Mr. Kohen to obstruct legal proceedings by submitting 

false police reports, such s claiming that he shaved the Children's heads, 

(CP 145, CP 147, Exhibits: Police Reports). 

38. The basis for Ms. Smith's claim for sanctions against Mr. Kohen in the 

amount of $1000.00 was that the evidences Mr. Kohen presented were 

irrelevant, (CP 364, Smith's Motion); (A.) Mr. Kohen proved to both Trial 

and Appellate Courts that these evidences were material to decisions under 

the Hague Convention, (CP 18-98, Kohen's Declaration); .mJ. The legal 

basis for Ms. Smith's motion was misplaced in this context, and applies to 

contempt of court-making it impossible to frame a response. 

39. Oct. 2. 2013: Ms. Smith initially claimed that her Rights of Custody 

were breached, ambiguously citing the entire Civil Code of Quebec, (CP 

43, Smith's Hague Application), because Mr. Kohen Petitioned for Legal 

Separation in Washington State, (CP 49. par. 49; Smith's Declaration); 

(B.2.) Nov. 3. 2013: Ms. Smith changed allegations, claiming, without 

substantiation, that Mr. Kohen refused to return the Children, (CP 149, 

D.4.Issue 04- Facts Re. 
Recognizability of Foreign 
Judgments 
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Smiths Declaration). CP 49. pars. 41-44, CP 149, Smith's Declarations). 

40. Nov. 3. 2013: A month later, Ms. Smith vexatiously changed her 

allegation, precluding Mr. Kohen from framing a response-alleging that 

Mr. Kohen refused to return to Quebec with the Children-without 

providing any evidence, (CP 149, Smith's Declaration); 

41. Jan. 12. 2015: The Appellate Court restated Ms. Smith's claim, 

injecting a new unsubstantiated allegation that Mr. Kohen cut off her 

contact with the Children, (Opinion. pg. 11. para. 1 ), and this breached 

their agreement to return the Children to the United States, (ibid.). 

42. Additional Evidence- Feb. 17. 2015: The Appellate Court rendered an 

interlocutory decision, denying Mr. Kohen's Motion to take new evidence, 

Smith's declaration to the Montreal Superior Court), under the grounds 

that he did not have sufficient time, (RAP 9.11 ). Review of this decision, 

though the time limit has expired, can can be waived under RAP 1.2. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

E.l. LEGAL BASES FOR REVIEW 

43. Legal Basil: .(A:l U.S. Canst. amend. XIV. § 1, the Right to Due 

2 Pro Se pleadings are to be liberally construed, given liberal construction, and held to 
less stringent standards, protecting the litigant in view of improper denomination of 
pleadings, and inartfulness. See Haines y. Kerner. 404 U.S. 519 (1972), Baldwin 
County Welcome Center v. Brown, 466 U.S. 147, 165 (1984), Estelle v. Gamble, 429 
U.S., at 106, RAP 1.2. 

E.l.Legal Bases for Review Appellant's Amended Petition for 
Review 

Page 15 of 50 



Process of the Law-right to Trial, and Right to Equal Protection under 

the Law; .ill:.} Hague Convention (16) on the Recognition and 

Enforcement of Foreign Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters; 

(B.l) Article 5(1). Convention (16), the decisions rendered were 

manifestly incompatible with the public policy of Quebec, Canada, which 

requires proofs of parental intent, (Articles 75-78. C.C.Q.); (B.2.) Article 

5(1). Convention (16): renders these decisions unrecognizable because 

they resulted from proceedings incompatible with the requirements of due 

process of law, and because there was no adequate opportunity to fairly 

present a defense; .(!;J Hague Convention (37) on Choice of Court 

Agreements; .(!;J Washington State Rule of Appellate Procedure RAP 13.4 

.!Jili2.l - Conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; (D.) RAP 

13.4(b)(3) - Significant question of Constitutional Law regarding the 

Right to Due Process; ill.:} RAP 13.4 (b)(4)- Significant Public Interest: 

this is an international Child Abduction case, which sets precedent and 

effects temporary foreign stays, (sabbaticals), of families. 

44. There is no jurisdiction of this matter under the Hague Convention: 

(A.) The Choice of Court Agreement between the parties supersedes a 

E.2.Issue 0 I -Compliance with the 
Hague Convention 
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Petition for the Return of Children. Re C (Abduction: Settlement), EWHC 

1245 (Fam), at 23 (28 May 2004). Droit de Ia famille - 123502, 2012 

QCCS 6431; .Q!:..l There are no return remedies for breaches of Rights of 

Access, (even if true). Redmond v. Redmond, 724 F.3d 729, 741 (7th Cir. 

2013); ~The Hague Convention does not apply in Anticipatory Cases. 

Toren v. Toren, 191 F.3d 23, 28 (1st Cir. 1999); !!!J. When there is no 

claim that the Return/Retention of the Children breached Rights of 

Custody attributed under the law of the foreign state, (Quebec Canada). 

Convention (28). Article 3; !.EJ. When there is only a "one-time dust-up", 

Raux v. Raux, 319 Fed.Appx. 569, 571 (9th Cir. 2009)); 

45. Toren v. Toren is an analogous case, and summarizes why the Hague 

Convention does not apply: (A.) in anticipatory cases, .Q!:..l that a 

restraining order is an affirmative defense which prohibited Mr. Kohen 

from removing the Children from Washington State without Ms. Smith's 

consent; ~ and a breach of Rights of Access does not does not lead to a 

Return remedy. See Toren v. Toren, Section G.l. Appendix- Cases. pg. 26. 

46. "Because the state court's ne exeat order does not constitute a 

"retention" within the meaning of the Hague Convention, we conclude that 

the district court did not err in granting McConnell's motion to dismiss." 

E.2.Issue 01 -Compliance with the 
Hague Convention 
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Pielage v. McConnell, 516 F.3d 1289 (11th Cir. 2008), (ruling that the 

Convention was intended "to cover the situation where a child has been 

kept by another person, not necessarily by a court; ill.:.l Ms. Smith's 

second allegation, to the U.S. Department of State, was because of this 

Restraining Order, (CP 43, Dept. of State Application); 

47. The Hague Convention apply does not apply, as Ms. Smith's parental 

Right of Custody to Determine their Residence was not possibly breached 

-because she did not attempt to exercise it; (A.) Ms. Smith refused. See 

Section D.1, Issue 01- Facts Re. the Hague Convention, pg. 6. 

48. The Appellate Court's Opinion states that a breach of access voids an 

agreement to change residence of the Children, (Opinion. pg. 11. para. 1 ); 

(A.) The Court's decision sets precedent, but is internally inconsistent, 

overlooking that Ms. Smith declared the Children's were in Quebec 

contingent on her agreement to sponsor the family's immigration, (CP 148, 

Smiths Declaration); ill.J Ms. Smith declared that she did not fulfill this 

agreement, even failing to extend their visitor's visas, (CP 149), proving

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