SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 15, 2015, 11:58 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

91308-1

No. 91309-1

Court of Appeals Cause No. 71130-0-I Snohomish County Cause No. 13-2-08326-2

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARIE-CATHERINE SMITH,

Respondent,

ν.

ELIKA KOHEN,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stacy D. Heard WSBA No. 28856 Attorney for Respondent

THE LAW OFFICE OF STACY D. HEARD, PLLC 520 Pike Tower 520 Pike Street, Suite 2600 Seattle, WA 98101 206,447.8200

I.	IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT
II.	ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	ARGUMENT
V.	CONCLUSION1

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Bulzomi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 996 (1994)
Holder v. Holder, 392 F.3d 1009, 1013 (9th Cir. 2004)
<u>In re Marriage of Olson</u> , 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993) 8
<u>In re Marriage of Schweitzer</u> , 132 Wn.2d 318, 329, 937 P.2d 1062 (1997)
Katare v. Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012)
Nordstrom Credit, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 120 Wn.2d 935, 939-40, 845 P.2d 1331 (1993)
State v. Wade, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999)
State v.Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)
<u>Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie</u> , 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003)
Statutes
42 U.S.C. § 11601 et seq., International Child Abduction Remedies Act "ICARA"
42 U.S.C. § 11603 et seq8
Other Authority
RAP 13.46

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Marie-Catherine Smith, by and through her attorney of record, respectfully requests this Court deny review of the January 12, 2015 unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Smith v. Kohen, No. 71130-0-1. This decision upheld the return of the children to their "habitual residence" pursuant to the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction.

II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.
- B. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of another decision of the Court of Appeals.
- C. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.
- D. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Background Facts</u>. Mr. Kohen and Ms. Smith were married in February 2010 in New York. At the time of the marriage, the parties lived in Ottawa, Canada, with Mr. Kohen's then 7-year-old son from a previous

marriage, Hezekiah. The parties have two daughters of the marriage, Anya-Marie Kohen, DOB September 12, 2010, and Lydia-Maayan Kohen, DOB March 15, 2013. Anya was born in Seattle, Washington and Lydia-Maayan was born in Ottawa, Ontario, Canada. Mr. Kohen is an unemployed, retired veteran. Ms. Kohen is currently unemployed. CP 147-153.

In August 2010, the parties moved to Seattle because Mr. Kohen told Ms. Smith that he had a good job opportunity. Mr. Kohen moved to Seattle in July 2010 while Ms. Smith stayed in Canada with his son. Ms. Smith was pregnant with Anya at the time. When Ms. Smith arrived in Seattle, she learned that Mr. Kohen did not have a job. At the end of August, Mr. Kohen started working for Boeing as a solution architect. Anya was born on September 12. Mr. Kohen was terminated from Boeing in November 2010. *Id*.

In January 2011, Mr. Kohen enrolled in North Seattle Community College to study architecture. He attended school through his VA benefits, but dropped out and the parties had to repay the cost to Veteran's Affairs. Ms. Smith was unable to work in the U.S. because she did not have a green card. *Id.*

From June 2011 to February 2012, the parties lived off of the sales of personal property and Mr. Kohen's veteran's benefits of \$716/month.

Ms. Smith was pregnant with the parties' second child. Ms. Smith moved

back to Canada knowing that the parties' financial situation was not improving. The parties agreed that Ms. Smith would file Canadian immigration paperwork for Mr. Kohen and his son. Ms. Smith's mother paid for the plane tickets for Ms. Smith and Mr. Kohen's son to return to Canada. *Id.*

Ms. Smith arrived in Canada in February 2013 with Anya and Hezekiah. They lived with Ms. Smith's parents in Bristol, Quebec. Mr. Kohen lived with a friend in Seattle for a few weeks, then found a job in New Jersey. Ms. Smith had the parties' second child, Lydia-Maayan, on March 15, 2012 in Ottawa, Canada. Mr. Kohen was not present for her birth. Mr. Kohen visited the day after the birth, stayed for a week, then returned to New Jersey. Thereafter, Mr. Kohen came and went for two weeks at a time. *Id.*

In July 2012, Mr. Kohen quit his job in New Jersey and returned to Canada, having decided that the family should live together in Montreal. In October 2012, Ms. Smith started working at Starbucks and within a month was promoted to supervisor. Mr. Kohen stayed home with the children. He did not enroll his son in school. Mr. Kohen did not have permission to work or attend school in Canada. In February 2013, Ms. Smith applied for visitors' visas for Mr. Kohen and his son. A few months later they learned that they did not submit proper application fees. Mr. Kohen was allowed to

stay in Canada by immigration services. Also in February 2013, Mr. Kohen filed his 2012 U.S. income tax return and received a refund of approximately \$10,000. He then thought it was a good time for the family to move to the U.S. He convinced Ms. Smith to let him go with the children. *Id.*

2. Mr. Kohen Abducted and Wrongfully Retained the Children. Mr. Kohen left Canada on July 2, 2013 for Seattle, with Ms. Smith's consent based upon his scheduled return on October 2, 2013. Mr. Kohen failed to return to Canada with the children, thus wrongfully removing them from their home in Canada. *Id*.

In August 2013, Mr. Kohen suggested Ms. Smith file for separation. He alleged that Ms. Smith should not see her children because of "psychological problems." On September 12, 2013, Mr. Kohen denied Ms. Smith access to speak with Anya and Hezekiah on their birthdays. On September 15, 2013, Mr. Kohen informed Ms. Smith that he would not return to Canada with the children and would remain with them in Seattle. Had Ms. Smith known Mr. Kohen would do that, she would have never consented to his departure from Canada with the children. *Id.* Ms. Smith did not see her children for three months after they were abducted. Mr. Kohen refused to return the children. *Id.*

Ms. Smith filed an application with the U.S. State Department for

return of the children. The children were located in Snohomish County, Washington. Mr. Kohen filed a Petition for Legal Separation in Snohomish County, Washington, falsely stating that the state of Washington had jurisdiction over the children, indicating "the children have no home state elsewhere." The children's home was (and is) in Canada. *Id*.

- The children were properly returned to Canada pursuant to the court order. Ms. Smith requested the court order the children be returned safely to Canada in the shortest time possible, pursuant to the Hague Convention. Ms. Smith requested the court order Mr. Kohen pay for all expenses incurred regarding return of the children, including their airfare and attorney's fees and costs. The court granted Ms. Smith's request and ordered the children be returned within 72 hours. The children were returned on November 14, 2013 and have been residing with Ms. Smith since.
- 4. <u>Procedural History.</u> Mr. Kohen filed a Petition for Legal Separation on September 27, 2013. Ms. Smith filed a Petition for Return of the Children pursuant to the Hague Convention on November 1, 2013. CP 195-200. The parties stipulated to stay Mr. Kohen's action for Legal Separation and an Order to Stay was entered on November 13, 2013. CP 293-295. The trial court ordered the children be returned pursuant to the Hague Convention on November 13, 2013. Mr. Kohen filed this appeal on

November 13, 2013. CP 275-280.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN RETURNING THE MINOR CHILDREN TO THEIR "HABITUAL RESIDENCE" PURUSANT TO THE HAGUE CONVENTION ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION; THUS, THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION SHOULD BE UPHELD.

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Division I Court of Appeals holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions of the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court of Appeals.

A. The Court of Appeals decision does not present a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United State.

Mr. Kohen claims that his due process rights have been violated under the U.S. Constitution, amendment XIV, §1, the right to due process. This court reviews a trial court's findings of fact for substantial evidence. In re Marriage of Schweitzer, 132 Wn.2d 318, 329, 937 P.2d 1062 (1997). "Substantial evidence is that which is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the matter asserted." Katare v. Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) "The party challenging a finding of fact bears the burden of demonstrating the finding is not supported by substantial evidence." Nordstrom Credit, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 120 Wn.2d 935, 939-40, 845 P.2d 1331 (1993). If substantial evidence supports the finding, it does not matter that other evidence may contradict it, because credibility determinations are left to the trier of fact and are not subject to review. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn. 2d 60, 71, 794 P. 2d 850 (1990). The Court of Appeals reviews conclusions of law de novo. Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003. A trial court's decision "is presumed to be correct and should be sustained absent an affirmative showing of error." State v. Wade, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999. The party presenting an issue for review has the burden of providing a record adequate to establish the

errors claimed. Wade, 138 Wn.2d at 464; see also RAP 9.2, 9.9, 9.10. An "insufficient record on appeal precludes review of the alleged errors." Bulzomi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 996 (1994. Pro se litigants are held to the same standard as attorneys and must comply with all procedural rules on appeal. In re Marriage of Olson, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993)

Mr. Kohen failed to identify the basic components of a due process claim or support this claim with argument or relevant authority. Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly declined to address that issue.

Mr. Kohen also claims that the Court of Appeals decision violated his due process rights by failing to comply with the Hague Convention. The United States is a party to the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, Oct. 25. 1980 (hereinafter "Hague Convention"). In 1988, Congress implemented the provisions of the Hague Convention in the International Child Abduction Remedies Act ("ICARA"), 42 U. S. C. 11601 et seq., which set forth the following objects of the Convention:

Article 1 (a): To secure the prompt return of children wrongfully removed from or retained in any Contracting State; and Article 1 (b): To ensure that rights of custody and of access under the law of one Contracting State are effectively respected in the other Contracting States.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 42 U. S. C. 11603.

The Hague Convention is a treaty, and thus on par with the United States Constitution, superseding state law. The objects of the Convention are (a) to secure the prompt return of children wrongfully removed from or retained in any Contracting State (Article 1 (a)); and (b) to ensure that rights of custody and of access under the law of one Contracting State are effectively respected in the other Contracting States (Article 1 (b)). The Convention is enforced in the United States via ICARA. Original jurisdiction is concurrent in both state and federal courts. 42 USC 11601, Sec. 4 (a).

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, there was no misapplication of the Hague Convention and the court had jurisdiction in this matter. Because Mr. Kohen has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision presents a significant question of law under the U.S. Constitution, that his due process rights were violated, his petition should be denied.

B. Mr. Kohen's petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Kohen alleges that because the facts of this case involve International Child Abduction, there is a significant public interest that requires review by the Supreme Court. Mr. Kohen's assertion is legally and factually insufficient. He has not demonstrated how this case presents a

significant public interest, other than asserting that it involves International Child Abduction.

As argued above, the United States is a party to the Hague Convention. The objects of the Convention are (a) to secure the prompt return of children wrongfully removed from or retained in any Contracting State (Article 1 (a)); and (b) to ensure that rights of custody and of access under the law of one Contracting State are effectively respected in the other Contracting States (Article 1 (b)). The Convention is enforced in the United States via ICARA. Original jurisdiction is concurrent in both state and federal courts. 42 USC 11601, Sec. 4 (a). The Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction does not require states to recognize foreign judgments. The Hague Convention's focus is not the underlying merits of a custody dispute but instead whether a child should be returned to a country for custody proceedings under that country's laws. Holder v. Holder, 392 F.3d 1009, 1013 (9th Cir. 2004.

The Hague Convention sets forth the objectives of the law and the application to public interest. Mr. Kohen has not shown a significant public interest that is not addressed by the Hague Convention. Therefore, his petition should be dismissed.

V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Kohen has not shown that any of the issues he presents meet the requirements of RAP 13.4. For the reasons above, Mr. Kohen's Petition for Review should be denied.

THE LAW OFFICE OF STACY D. HEARD, PLLC